2010-CA-01608 T

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS:

The undersigned counsel for the Appellants, Veronica B. McKee Arrington, and Charlie C. Baumgardner, certifies that the following persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluated possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. The Appellant, Veronica B. McKee Arrington, P. O. Box 36186, Birmingham, Alabama, 35236.
- 2. The Appellant, Charlie C. Baumgardner, P. O. Box 36186 Birmingham, AL 35236.
- 3. Don O. Rogers, Counsel for the Appellants, P. O. Drawer 1389, Meridian, Mississippi.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. The trial court erred ordering a report of the Guardian Ad Litem and ordering a report of a forester, allowing the Defendant Trustee access to those reports, denying Appellants access to those reports and using those reports as evidence and as the basis of its Order For Sale Of Timber.
- The trial court erred by entering its Order For Sale Of Timber, its Order To
 Accept Timber Bids And To Transfer Assets Of Baumgardner Marital Deduction Trust,
 and its Final Judgment.
- 3. The trial court erred in not requiring the trustee to give an accounting, including failure to require an accounting of the receipts, expenditures, and distributions of the money from the Court ordered timber sale and not ordering the trustee to pay specific amounts of sale proceeds to the proper parties.
- 4. The trial court erred in not requiring the trustee to fully reimburse the estate of Emogene Baumgardner for all of the moneys that the Conservatorship paid for her support, plus a reasonable interest rate on those funds.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE (INCLUDING FACTS)

Harold D. Baumgardner (hereinafter 'Harold') owned substantial timberland holdings. His will executed on November 13, 1970, was drafted by Attorney William E. Ready, Sr. (hereinafter 'Ready') of Meridian, Mississippi. [RE 44] A codicil to the will executed on December 27, 1978, also by Ready. [RE 54] After a long illness Harold died January 12, 1979, within a month of the codicil execution. After some bequests of personal property, the Will and Codicil placed all of Harold's property including all of his 1800 acres of timberlands in two trusts. [RE 44, 54]

One trust named the Baumgardner Marital Deduction Trust (hereinafter 'MDT') would contain an amount of assets which would not qualify for the Federal and State estate tax marital deduction. The other trust named the Baumgardner Family Trust (hereinafter 'FT') would contain an amount of asset that would qualify for the estate tax marital deduction. [RE 44, 54] Ready, the drafter of the will and codicil was named the Executor, was charged with selecting what assets would go to which trust, and was named as trustee of both trusts. [RE 59] The life beneficiaries of both trust was be Harold's widow, Emogene Baumgardner. All of the income from the MDT would be paid to Emogene. Distributions of corpus from the MDT were at the discretion of Ready. Distributions of income and corpus from the FT were at the discretion of Ready. The object of both trusts was to support Emogene to the standard of living to which she was

¹ The Family Trust also Harold's mother and mother-in-law as lifetime beneficiaries.

accustomed. The trustee was given broad standard language authority². Both trusts terminated at the Emogene's death. The assets of the MDT were left to Harold and Emogene's children, Veronica B. McKee Arrington and Charlie C. Baumgardner, (hereinafter 'Vi' and 'Charlie', respectively). The assets in the FT, except for the homeplace, were left to five named charities. [RE 54] The homeplace lands were treated differently. [RE 54]

A special provision in the Will provided that irrespective of any other trust provision, if Harold's home and the approximate 600 acres surrounding his home, if not otherwise disposed of, then at Emogene's death, that 600 acres would be equally divided between Vi and Charlie. This 600 acres of land is referred to as the "homeplace" in the will and in the pleadings. [RE 54]

Besides the homeplace lands approximately 711 more acres of timberlands were placed in the FT. The MDT contained approximately 470 acres of timberland. [RE 59]

The provision appointing Ready as Executor and Trustee contained standard language for him "to serve without bond, inventory or accounting." The provisions also limited the fees paid to Ready to those paid to testamentary trustees in Jackson,

Mississippi. [RE 44]

Ready managed both trusts from 1979 to Emogene's death in 2004.. Ready would not discuss any of the financial assets or timberlands management of either trust with Vi or Charlie. [RE 40] Due to age and health factors, and when Emogene could no longer handle her own business affairs, Vi initiated proceedings to create a conservatorship for

²Similar powers as contained in the Mississippi Uniform Trustees' Powers Law.

her mother. On August 7, 1996, the Lauderdale County Chancery Court entered its order finding Emogene could no longer handle her affairs and appointed her daughter Vi as conservator of her person and estate. [RE 32]

The Chancery Court authorized Vi to file a Complaint against Ready as trustee of both trusts for an accounting, removal and other relief. The Complaint charges that Ready refused to give an accounting or allow an inspection of the Trusts records; that Ready failed to pay the Emogene the funds required by the trusts; that Ready failed to properly discharge his duties as trustee; and that Ready's hostility with Emogene and Vi defeated the purposes of the trusts requiring his removal as trustee. The Complaint sought an accounting, production of records, removal of Ready as trustee and the appointment of a new trustee, and reimbursement by Ready of the costs of bringing this action. [RE 40]

Honorable Larry Buffington was appointed as special chancellor to hear this matter. After several abbreviated conferences, a couple of limited hearings, and the entry of numerous orders, the Chancellor:

- (a) appointed a local lawyer, Edward Kramer as guardian as litem for Emogene [RE 69];
- (b) ordered the guardian's report to be given in camera [RE 71];
- (c) removed Vi as conservator of the estate of Emogene and appointed Kramer as conservator of Emogene's estate [RE 87];
- (d) did not require Ready to respond to any discovery propounded by Vi [RE 17,85];
- (e) appointed a forester to examine the timberland and make an in camera report to the court [RE 81];
- (f) ordered the sale of substantially all of the trusts' 1800 acres of timber [RE 18];

(g) dissolved the MDT and ordered distribution of its funds to the Conservator; did not enter any special order of disbursement of timber money from the sale of any of the timberland in the FT nor of the homeplace timber money; and ordered Ready to pay \$205,000 to the Estate of Emogene as reimbursement for expenses of Emogene. [RE 23]

The evidence that the Chancellor accepted, considered, and relied upon to make these very important decisions, including its order for the sale of substantially all of the timber, to accept the timber bids and to distribute the timber sale money were: (1) the report of the guardian ad litem, and (2) the report of the forester. [RE 18] Both of these reports were provided to the court in camera. The information in both of these reports was ordered not to be given to Vi or Charlie. [RE 71,81] The Guardian's report was filed by the Court after the Court's consideration and after it made its decision to appoint a forester. [RE 74] The report of the forester was never filed or given to Vi or Charlie.

Although the court ordered the sale of the trusts' timber, Ready was never required to account for the money. Out of the \$3,070,840.00 gross timber sale money [RE 89], the Conservatorship received \$744,467.42³. What happened to the rest?

Neither Vi nor Charlie nor the Estate of Emogene Baumgardner received the money from the sale of the homeplace timber [RE 104], although the homeplace lands were specifically bequeathed to Vi and Charlie in Harold's will. [RE 54]

During eight years of the Conservatorship (1996 to 2004), Ready never paid any money to the Conservatorship for the support of Emogene (as was required of him in both

³ This figure appears in the Conservator's Annual Accounting at page 832, Pleadings Record.

trusts). So in 2010, the Chancellor required Ready to pay \$205,000 to Emogene's estate for that "unpaid" support.[RE 15] However, the Court has never required Ready to disburse the homeplace land timber sale money to the remaindermen, Vi and Charlie. [RE 12,15, 23] As directed by Harold's will, Vi and Charlie received the homeplace lands at Emogene's death in 2004 [RE 54], but without \$1,017,671.00 worth of timber. An accounting for that homeplace timber money was even required.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellants (Vi and Charlie) are the daughter and son of Harold Baumgardner. By will Harold left his estate including over 1800 acres of timberlands in two trusts. The lifetime beneficiary of both trusts were Harold's widow, Emogene, the mother of Vi and Charlie. Harold's lawyer (William E. Ready) drafted the will, was executor of his estate and was the trustee of both trusts. As Emogene aged, Vi sought and was appointed Emogene's conservator. Vi sought information from Ready about the two trusts which were to provide support for Emogene. Ready refused to provide any information.

Vi filed suit against Ready alleging mismanagement of the trusts assets, refusal to provide the intended support for Emogene and hostility of Ready toward Vi and Emogene.

The suit sought an accounting from Ready and his removal.

The local chancellors recused themselves because the litigation involved the local attorney, Ready. Larry Buffington as special chancellor, among other actions, appointed a guardian ad litem for Emogene, granting that guardian authority for an informal inspection of the trusts' records, and ordered the guardian's report to be presented to the Court in camera. Then the Court appointed a forester to inspect and report on the timberlands, this report also to be presented to the Court in camera. The Court's orders prohibited the information from the guardian ad litem's report and from the forester's report to be given to Vi or to Charlie or their counsel. Based on those reports the Court ordered Ready to sell substantially all of the timber on the timberlands.

The Court terminated one trust (the MDT) and directed its money, including its

timber sale money to be paid to Emogene's Conservatorship. The Court gave no directions regarding the corpus of the other trust (the FT), nor for the money from the timber sale of the FT lands or from the homeplace lands. The Court never ruled on removal of the trustee and never required the trustee to give any account or report to Vi or Charlie

The Court found that Ready did not pay any support to Emogene during the period of the conservatorship (from 1996-2004) and ordered Ready to pay \$205,000 to the conservatorship in 2010.

Ready operated the trust in secret, never disclosing any information to Vi or Charlie, remainder beneficiaries of the MDT and remainder beneficiaries of the homeplace lands in the FT. The Court orders for the sale of the timber, the payment of fees, and the distribution of the timber sale money, were all determined by the Court in chambers, based on reports presented to the Court in camera. Afterwards, the Report of the Guardian Ad Litem was filed with the Clerk, so counsel for Vi and Charlie did eventually obtain that report. However, the forester's report was never made a part of the Court records, and was never relayed to the Vi or Charlie or to their counsel.

The timber sale grossed \$3,070,840. Ready paid to the Conservatorship \$744,467.42 from the MDT. The balance of the timber sale money is not accounted for, although it was sold at the order of the Court.

The timber was sold without allowing input from Vi or Charlie. It is too late to reverse the timber sale. The timber has been cut and the money received by Ready.

However, what happened to the timber sale money has never been reported to Vi or

Charlie. To their understanding the disbursements of all of the timber sale money has never been reported to the Court.

As remainder beneficiaries of the FT homeplace lands, Vi and Charlie are entitled to the timber sale money from the FT homeplace lands. That money should not go to the remainder beneficiaries of the FT cash. What was never shown to be a necessary timber cutting from the homeplace lands in 2002, should not act as a transfer of \$1,070,671 in assets from one remainder beneficiary to another remainder beneficiary in 2004.

Vi and Charlie are entitled to know of what happened to the timber sale money. If the money was not paid to the proper beneficiary, then Ready should be held accountable and ordered to pay it to the correct party.

The Court ordered all of the funds from the MDT to be paid to the Conservatorship. Since no report of the MDT was ever made, we cannot be sure that all of that trust was paid. The Court did find that Ready had not paid support to Emogene and required a payment of \$205,000 from Ready in 2010. The Court also found that Ready did not properly manage the timberlands. The Guardian Ad Litem's Report also criticized Ready for obtaining a loan from the trust funds and criticized him for hiring a timber manager and giving this timber manager the right to buy the timber. In light of these actions, how do we know that Ready paid all that was due from the trusts to the correct party without an accounting? As remainder beneficiaries of the MDT funds, Vi and Charlie are entitled to know what happened to the trusts funds during the trusts administration.

This Court should remand for an accounting from Ready. Then after the accounting is presented and appellants respectfully request that a new special Chancellor be appointed since Chancellor Buffington was defeated in his reelection bid and in view of the expended period of time elapsing since appellants began this process. The special Chancellor should address and correct any improper payments and order all proper payments to be made. The new Special Chancellor should also require Ready to reimburse Emogene's estate for all of the expenses of care for Emogene during the period of the conservatorship.

ARGUMENT

Issue 1. The trial court erred ordering a report of the Guardian Ad Litem and ordering a report of a forester, allowing the Defendant Trustee access to those reports, denying Appellants access to those reports and using those reports as evidence and as the basis of its Order For Sale Of Timber.

Issue 2. The trial court erred by entering its Order For Sale Of Timber, its

Order To Accept Timber Bids And To Transfer Assets Of Baumgardner Marital

Deduction Trust, and its Final Judgment.

The only court listing (January 5, 1981) of the assets in the Baumgardner Marital Deduction Trust (hereinafter "MDT") and the Baumgardner Family Trust (hereinafter "FT") is in the original allocation of the assets in the Estate of Harold Baumgardner (Exhibit B to the Complaint, RE 59-66). These allocations made to each Trust by Ready and the value of each asset at that time, according to Ready, were:

Into the MDT:

	Asset Description	Executor's Value		
a.	Home and 3.29 acres	\$43,000		
b.	Dalewood land - 80 acres	\$37,000		
c.	Lauderdale Springs land – 390 acres	\$126,875		
d.	Bank stocks	\$31,334		
Into the FT:				
	Asset Description	Executor's Value		

a.	Vandevender land – 103 acres	\$25,750
b.	Williams land - 80 acres	\$16,000
c.	Packey land - 10 acres	\$3,850
d.	Tutt land - 120 acres	\$27,840
e.	Baumgardner and Crooker land – 78 acres	\$21,918
f.	Homeplace land – 592 acres	\$193,000
g.	Bozeman land – 40 acres	\$9,600
h.	Phillips land – 70 acres	\$28,980
i.	Talbert land – 80 acres	\$36,120
j.	Warren land – 140 acres	\$62,930
k.	various minerals	\$268
1.	coal leases	\$0
m.	oil and gas leases	\$0
n.	hunting club lease	\$ 0
0.	Cash from sale of Viverette land	\$22,500

Land was the principal asset placed into each Trust. For that reason alone, the sale of substantially all of the timber growing on the Trust lands is significant and an important financial decision. The decision is important to the life beneficiary -- Emogene Baumgardner. The decision is important to the remainder beneficiaries – Vi and Charlie.

Vi and Charlie are the remainder beneficiaries of all 470 acres of timberland in the MDT. [RE 46] Vi and Charlie are the remainder beneficiaries of 592 of the 1250 acres of

timberland in the FT. [RE 56] Certainly Vi and Charlie have an interest in the sale of timber on the 999 acres which they would "inherit" at their mother's death. At Emogene's death on April 12, 2004, they indeed became the owners of those lands.

The Complaint filed by Vi includes allegations (never heard by the Court) that Ready did not properly manage those timberlands. [RE 36] Those allegations were denied by Ready. However, the Court specifically found in its May 20, 2002 and July 30, 2002, orders that the timber was not being properly managed. [RE 19, 24] The Guardian Ad Litem criticized Ready for granting the timberland manager the option to buy the timberlands. [RE 77-78] Certainly Vi and Charlie are entitled to the specific information about the timber and Ready's handling of it.

The Court's order [RE 18] that substantially all of the timber be cut and sold without a hearing in which Vi or Charlie were allowed to participate is a violation of Rule 43, Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure and Rules 614(a) and 706(a), Mississippi Rules of Evidence, and a great miscarriage of justice to them. Surely, Vi and Charlie are entitled to the specific information about the timber money received, what expenses and fees were paid from that money, and to whom that money was distributed.

Yet Vi and Charlie were denied access to the reports that were the basis of the Court's orders to cut and sell the timber. They were denied information about the money and where it went. [RE 17, 71,85] The sequence of Court pleadings and orders showing these gross miscarriages are:

1. On December 13, 2001, the Court's Order relates that the Court has "reviewed the Court file and the Report And Recommendation Of The Guardian Ad Litem⁴ ... and that Charlie D. Jones, Registered Forester, Monticello, Mississippi, be and is hereby appointed as an independent appraiser and is charged and directed to conduct an appraisal of all timberlands of the Baumgardner family and marital deduction trusts...."
[RE 81]

- 2. On March 15, 2002, the Court took under advisement Vi's motion to compel Ready to answer discovery and production requests made and took under advisement Ready's motion for a protective order preventing that discovery from proceeding. [RE 17]
- 3. On March 15, 2002, the Court ordered the forester's report to be made in camera and kept secret from Vi and Charlie (the Report never made its way to the Clerk's office, or to Vi, Charlie or their counsel; and therefore, it is not in this record). [RE 85]
- 4. In its Order For Sale of Timber, entered May 20, 2002, the Court said it considered the forester's report (in camera, without Vi, Charlie or their attorneys' present and without a court reporter), and found "that said timberlands are not being managed in a manner maximizing monetary return and growth potential." Then the Court ordered the "timber be promptly sold in a commercially reasonable manner to preserve the capital value of each trust." [RE 18]
 - 5. The Guardian Ad Litem's July 11, 2002, report of the timber sale [RE 89]

⁴ The Report And Recommendation Of The Guardian Ad Litem was ordered to be and was submitted to the Court in camera. The Court further forbid a disclosure of the results of the Guardian's examination of the trust records to Vi and Charlie. [RE] The Report was filed by the Chancellor on December 10, 2001, after it was considered and the Chancellor orally stated that he intended to employ a forester to inspect the timberlands. See the hand filing notation on the top right hand corner of the order.

includes a tract by tract schedule of the bids received for timber on each tract of land. The total of the tracts highest bids are:

For the tracts in the MDT lands a total of \$1,066,985.25;

For the tracts in the FT lands (without the homeplace land tract) a total of \$986,084.25;

and for the homeplace lands a total of \$1,017,671.005.

This report also recommends that the money from the MDT lands be paid to the Conservatorship of Emogene for her support. The report makes no recommendation for distribution of the FT lands money or the homeplace lands money.

- 6. Vi and Charlie's July 18, 2002, objection to the sale, raised objections to the secrecy of the bid procedure, the refusal to provide any information about the bids, the sale of the MDT lands without requiring this money being used solely for Emogene's care, and any sale of the homeplace lands as unnecessarily robbing Vi and Charlie of the value of their remainder interest (since it would remove all of the timber) in those lands. [RE 100]
- 7. Ready countered in his response filed July 29, 2002, that the sale should be approved, the MDT should be dissolved and the money from the MDT, including its portion of the timber sale money, should be paid to the Conservatorship. [Pleadings Record at 767]
 - 8. In its July 30, 2002, Order the Court said that on the basis of the Report of

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