IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

DOCKET NUMBER: 2010-CA-01608

VERONICA BAUMGARDNER McKEE ARRINGTON and CHARLIE C. BAUMGARDNER

PLAINTIFFS / APPELLANTS / CROSS-APPELLEES

VERSUS

WILLIAM E. READY, Trustee

DEFENDANT / APPELLEE CROSS-APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

"The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or refusal."

FOR PLAINTIFFS / APPELLANTS / CROSS-APPELLEES

Plaintiffs / Appellants / Cross-appellees

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

Plaintiffs are residual distributees of <u>part</u> of the residual estate, <u>if</u> the estate was not exhausted. Plaintiffs' allegation of "waste" (Brf. Appl. 21) is erroneous. The uncontradicted evidence showed the necessity of cutting the timber. Plaintiffs claim for "the value of the timber cut and removed" is unfounded because Defendant Trustee owned the timber, in trust for lifetime trust beneficiaries (not Plaintiffs residual distributees).

Plaintiffs Lost Nothing

5

Plaintiffs alternate between blaming the Court for misapplication of timber sale proceeds (Brf.Appl 21-22) to blaming Defendant Trustee (Brf.Appl 22-23), claiming a loss

-31-

exceeding a million dollars (Brf.Appl.22). Plaintiffs never explain the calculation of the claimed loss nor support Plaintiffs' right to timber sale proceeds. Again, Plaintiffs were <u>not</u> remaindermen. The Baumgardner Last Will and Testament granted no remainder.

Plaintiffs <u>speculate</u> that greater income could have been realized, but Plaintiffs' <u>expert</u> (E. Lynn Prine, President, Southern Resource, Inc.) acknowledged that the <u>sole</u> surviving trust beneficiary did <u>not</u> favor prescribed measures to maximize timber income. There is <u>no</u> evidence that Defendant Trustee or the Court destroyed timber or ignored expert advice. There is <u>no</u> evidence that Defendant Trustee or the Court wasted, converted, or misapplied any trust assets. Plaintiffs damage claim is unsupported.

The learned Chancellor should be affirmed.

PROPOSITION 2										
PLAINTIFFS	WERE	NOT	ENTITLED	ТО	ACCOUNTING					

Plaintiffs third (3rd) issue in Plaintiffs' second argument (Brf.Appl 25)is:

Issue 3. The trial court erred in not requiring the trustee to give an accounting including failure to require an accounting of receipts, expenditures, and distributions of the money from the Court ordered timber sale and not ordering the trustee to pay specific amounts of sale proceeds to the proper parties.

Plaintiff residual distributees complain because Defendant Trustee refused to disclose the confidential finances of private trusts created by Harold D. Baumgardner's Last Will and Testament as modified by Codicil. No Plaintiff was a beneficiary of either trust. Plaintiffs' rambling diatribe notwithstanding (Brf Appl 25-31), Plaintiffs cite no authority supporting Plaintiffs' demand.

Pursuant to direction of the said instruments, Defendant Trustee Ready denied Plaintiff residual distributees' demands for inventory and/or accounting. Harold D. Baumgardner's Last Will and Testament expressly waived accounting (see above). <u>In re the</u> <u>Jane W. Stubbs-Kelley Trust</u>, 573 So.2d 734, 735 (Miss. 1990).

There is a duty to account to a <u>trust beneficiary</u> (here Emogene Baumgardner). Consider <u>In Re Jane W. Stubbs-Kelley</u> <u>Trust</u>, 573 So.2d 734 (Miss. 1990), wherein <u>trust beneficiaries</u> (not residual distributees) alleged that the trustee's refusal to render an accounting to the <u>trust beneficiaries</u> was a breach of the trustee's fiduciary duty [573 So.2d at 735]. On appeal, the Mississippi Supreme Court stated:

"The trust was established on October 1, 1982. A document titled "Trust Agreement", dated October 1, 1982 was recorded in the Chancery Court of Adams County October 7, 1982. Another document dated September 30, 1982, but signed on October 1, waived the right to any past, present or future accounting. This document was never recorded.

After a hearing, the Chancellor ordered that Wood

-33-

owed no duty to render an accounting, finding that the settlor waived that duty in the writing dated September 30, 1982. The Chancellor held that this unrecorded document was incorporated into the trust as a matter of law. We affirm.

The writing used to create a trust may consist of several documents. Ramage v. Ramage, 322 S.E.2d 22 (S.C.Ct.App. 1984); See also, G. Bogert & G. Bogert, The Law of Trusts and Trustees, §50 (2nd ed. 1984). Even though they have different dates the two writings were executed on the same day. When property was transferred to the trust it came into existence as a trust and the September 30 and October 1 instruments, together, made up its written form. Furthermore, the September 30 document expressly refers to the other instrument. As such, the September 30 document_waiving any right to an accounting is part of the trust and serves as a specific expression of the settlor's intent to waive any right to an accounting. Beck v. Robinson, 154 So.2d 284 (Miss. 1963); Reagh v. Kelley, 89 Cal.Rptr. 425, 10 Cal.App.3d 1082 (1970). The September 30 paper being part of the writing creating the trust, it_is_clear that no accounting is required. Essentially this was the Chancellor's holding and, as it is supported by the evidence, we cannot say that it was manifestly in error.

AFFIRMED."

(<u>emphasis</u> supplied). [573 So.2d 735-736].

There is <u>no</u> evidence that Defendant Trustee ever denied any lifetime trust beneficiary (Emogene Baumgardner) or lifetime trust beneficiary's guardian / conservator (Edward N. Kramer, III, Esq.) the right to examine and inquire into trust affairs. As in <u>Stubbs-Kelly</u> above, the Will clearly waived accountings and was such waiver was part of H. D. Baumgardner's intent. Plaintiff residual distributees were only entitled to the <u>unexpended</u> residue of the Marital Deduction Trust and specific land <u>if</u> the land remained a trust asset. Clearly, the unexpended residue of the Family Trust belongs to the designated charities. Defendant Trustee owed no duty to account to Plaintiff residual distributees.

The present case also contrasts with <u>Walker v. Cox</u>, 531 So.2d 801, 804 (Miss. 1988), wherein a successor income <u>trust</u> <u>beneficiary</u> sued for accounting of trust and removal of the trustee due to proven antagonism ("hostility") between the <u>trustee and trust beneficiary</u>. On appeal, the Supreme Court noted the <u>question of first impression</u> held that hostility between trustee and trust beneficiary could frustrate the trust's purpose even without a showing of trustee's maladministration [531 So.2d at 804].

There was no evidence of hostility between Defendant Trustee and sole lifetime trust beneficiary Emogene Baumgardner and/or lifetime trust beneficiary's Guardian <u>Ad Litem</u> / Conservator. Plaintiff residual distributees' demand for accounting to residual distributees was unfounded in fact or in law. The Chancellor correctly refused Plaintiffs' demand.

No The learned Chancellor should be affirmed.

PROPOSITION 3											
ESTATE OF	EMOGENE	BAUMGARDNER	RECEIVED	ALL	THAT	WAS	DUE				

Plaintiffs fourth (4th) issue in Plaintiffs' second argument (Brf.Appl 31) is:

-35-

Issue 4. The trial court erred in not requiring the trustee to fully reimburse the estate of Emogene Baumgardner for all of the moneys that the Conservatorship paid for her support plus a reasonable interest rate on those funds.

Notwithstanding Plaintiffs' claim, Plaintiffs cite no authority for this novel proposition. In <u>Mellon v. Smith's</u> <u>Pecans, Inc.</u>, 2009-CA-00920-COA (Miss.App. 2/8/2011) the Court noted:

¶23. * * *. "[The failure to cite authority in support of an argument eliminates our obligation to review the issue." <u>Dampier v. State</u>, 973 So.2d 221, 228 (¶20) (Miss. 2008).

•

As in <u>Mellon</u>, <u>supra</u>, this Court has no obligation to review this issue.

Without citing authority, Plaintiffs demand retroactive accounting to 1997, <u>i.e.</u> a time beyond any applicable limitation of action period. Plaintiffs then attempt to bootstrap claimed losses with additional interest (Brf Appl 32).

By Court Order, Guardian <u>Ad Litem</u> / Conservator Edward N. Kramer, Esq. received all Marital Deduction Trust assets. The Guardian <u>Ad Litem</u> / Conservator accounted for assets received, which accountings were approved.

Equally clearly, the Family Trust was a supplemental fund if, after due consideration of all of <u>Sole</u> Lifetime Trust Beneficiary Emogene Baumgardner's resources, Defendant Trustee determined that the Beneficiary needed additional funds. There was <u>no</u> evidence that the Family Trust had any obligation to bear 100% of the Beneficiary's expenses.

There was <u>no</u> evidence that the <u>Sole</u> Lifetime Trust Beneficiary ever suffered a lack of anything (before or after Guardianship). Plaintiffs' claim is unsupported.

The learned Chancellor should be affirmed.

CROSS-APPEAL

PROPOSITION THE COURT LACKED SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION AND PLAINTIFFS LACKED STANDING TO SUE

Jurisdiction

This action is <u>not</u> an action in an ongoing estate, but rather an action in a private trust. Where, as here, a private trust establishes the Trustee's duties and obligations, including specific waivers of inventory, accounting, appraisal, etc., the Chancellor has no subject matter jurisdiction concerning the specifically waived matters.

The only exception arises in cases of demonstrated fraud or other misbehavior. <u>In re Jane W. Stubbs-Kelley Trust</u>, 573 So.2d 734, 735-736 (Miss. 1990)[trust setting]; <u>Ellzey v. McCormick</u>, 17 So.3d 583, 591 (Miss. 2009) [estate setting]. Only <u>after</u> predicate proof of Trustee's misbehavior, may the Court require accounting, inventory, appraisal, etc. to remedy the misbehavior.

-37-

Decell v. Hazlehurst Oil Mill & Fertilizer Co., 83 Miss. 346, 35 So. 761 (1904). Plaintiffs never proved misbehavior and, therefore, the learned Chancellor had no subject matter jurisdiction.

The burden of proving subject matter jurisdiction rested upon the party invoking the Court's jurisdiction (Plaintiffs). <u>Hood v. Mississippi Department of Wildlife Conservation</u>, 571 So.2d 263, 266 (Miss. 1990); <u>Hunt v. Hunt</u>, 629 So.2d 548, 551 (Miss. 1992) [subject matter jurisdiction deals with the power and authority of a court to consider a case; subject matter jurisdiction may not be waived and may be asserted at any stage of the proceeding or even collaterally].

Vituperative allegations aside, Plaintiffs' claims constituted a forbidden "fishing bill" over which the Chancery Court lacked jurisdiction. <u>Griffith, Mississippi Chancery</u> Practice, 2d Ed. (1950) <u>\$429 at p.425</u>.

Plaintiffs sought to evade the trusts' terms waiving accountings (disclosures) to anyone, including Plaintiff residual distributees. Where, as here, the trust instrument specifically and unambiguously waived accounting, then Defendant Trustee may <u>not</u> be called to account except upon predicate proof of mismanagement, incompetence, or fraud. No such proof appeared. <u>In re Jane W. Stubbs-Kelley Trust</u>, 573 So.2d 734, 735-736 (Miss. 1990) [trustee's declaratory judgment action that trustee owed no

-38-

duty of accounting to beneficiaries of trust]. Moreover, the Guardian / Conservator examined Defendant Trustee's records and reported to the Court. There was <u>no</u> evidence that the <u>sole</u> beneficiary (or Guardian / Conservator) was denied access to the Trusts' books of account. Plaintiff distributees are miffed that the Chancellor chose not to publish the Conservator's findings. Wounded pride is not a cause of action.

Timber Sale

Upon receipt of expert advice (including Plaintiffs' own expert), the learned Chancellor and Defendant Trustee agreed to sell the timber to preserve the trusts' capital. The learned Chancellor appointed a Guardian / Conservator to protect Mrs. Baumgardner's interests and to receive Mrs. Baumgardner's share of the timber sale proceeds. The Court and the Guardian / Conservator approved the distribution of the sale proceeds. The Guardian / Conservator actually examined the Trust records and reported to the Court. Upon E. Baumgardner's death, the Conservatorship necessarily dissolved and the remaining Conservatorship assets passed to her estate.

Standing

Plaintiff residual distributees objected to the terms of the private testamentary trusts. Although, the Chancellor did not grant the relief, the Court erred in failing to grant Defendant's motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction and lack of standing.

-39-

In Schmidt v. Catholic Diocese of Biloxi, 18 So.3d 814

(Miss. 2009), the Supreme Court said:

¶32. Standing is an aspect of subject matter jurisdiction. <u>Kirk v. Pope</u>, 973 So.2d 981, 990 (Miss.2007) (citations omitted). **A lack of standing** "'robs the court of jurisdiction to hear the case.' " <u>Pruitt v. Hancock Med. Ctr.</u>, 942 So.2d 797, 801 (Miss.2006) (citations omitted).

"Mississippi's standing requirements are ¶33. quite liberal." Dunn v. Miss. State Dep't of Health, 708 So.2d 67, 70 (Miss.1998). The general standing rule has been stated as follows: "Mississippi parties have standing to sue 'when they assert a colorable (footnote omitted) interest in the subject [*827] matter of the litigation or experience an adverse effect from the conduct of the defendant, or as otherwise provided by law. " City of Picayune v. S. Regal Corp., 916 So.2d 510, 525 (Miss.2005) (guoting State of Miss. v. Quitman County, 807 So.2d 401 (Miss.2001)). The "individual's legal interest or entitlement to assert a claim ... must be grounded in some legal right recognized by law, whether by statute or by common law." City of Picayune [v. S. Regal Corp.], 916 So.2d [510] at 526. * * *. (emphasis supplied, [bracketed] citation supplied). [18 So.3d at 826-827].

See also: Hall v. City of Ridgeland, 37 So.3d 25,33 (¶23) (Miss. 2010); Jones v. Lutzen, 2009-SA-01823-COA (Miss.App. 2/22/2011).

"Colorable," when used to describe a claim or action, means "appearing to be true, valid, or right." <u>Black's Law Dictionary</u> 212 (abridged 7th ed. 2000).

Standing "is to be determined as of the commencement of suit." <u>Delta Health Group, Inc. v. Estate of Pope</u>, 995 So.2d 123, 126 (Miss. 2008).

When this action was filed, Plaintiff residual distributees

When this action was filed, Plaintiff residual distributees had no "colorable interest" in the Trusts. <u>Sole</u> beneficiary Emogene Baumgardner had the <u>exclusive</u> right to demand accounting (Plaintiffs' primary demand), <u>i.e.</u> a right personal to Emogene Baumgardner and, by substitution, the Guardian / Conservator. The instruments creating the Marital Deduction Trust and the Family Trust expressly waived accounting to anyone, including Plaintiffs. Plaintiff residual distributees had no "legal right recognized by law" to the demanded relief, only a right to a contingent remainder, but no more than that. Plaintiff residual Distributees had no standing because Plaintiff residual distributees were not beneficiaries of either Trust.

Moreover, Plaintiffs could <u>not</u> exercise purely personal <u>elective</u> right (accounting) of a ward (Emogene Baumgardner). <u>Matter of Estate of Atkins v. Sartin</u>, 422 So.2d 754, 756-757 (Miss. 1982) [conservator's right to withdraw funds from a joint bank account of the ward <u>without</u> court order and before the ward's death; HELD: must secure court order]; <u>Hutton v. Gwin</u>, 188 Miss. 763, 195 So. 486 (1940) [<u>attorney's fees</u> in management of statutory estates are <u>not</u> a charge on the estate itself, but <u>are personal obligations of the administrator or executor or</u> <u>guardian</u>]; <u>McGavock v. Whitfield</u>, 45 Miss. 452 (1871) [guardian can <u>not</u> bind wards's estate by incurring obligation of suretyship for another]; <u>Martin v. Stevens</u>, 30 Miss. 159 (Miss.

-41-

ι.

1855) [guardian could <u>not</u> assert personal defense available to ward].

Defendant Trustee objected to jurisdiction, alleging that Plaintiffs lacked standing (Defendant Trustee's Response (R.100); Defendant Trustee's Motion for Summary Judgment (R.123) and supporting memorandum (R.127)). The learned Chancellor took all objections under advisement (R.463-464), but refused to rule. As a result this litigation ensued at the needless expense and potential prejudice of the Residual Charitable Distributees and Defendant Trustee.

The learned Chancellor erred in failing to grant Defendant Trustee's Motion to Dismiss and/or Summary Judgment. This Honorable Court should dismiss Plaintiff residual distributees' appeal for lack of standing or, alternatively, for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

CONCLUSION

This Honorable Court should affirm the learned Chancellor's decisions, but find that the Chancery Court lacked jurisdiction because Plaintiff residual distributees lacked standing to sue. Respectfully submitted,